STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Darlington County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

DONTAVIOUS JACKSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001487  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 01 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to object to the trial judge repeatedly instructing the jury to “act for the community” and “reach a fair and just verdict” where the instruction deprived Petitioner of his right to a fair trial by improperly shifting the state’s burden of proof and creating a reasonable likelihood the jurors substituted the trial court’s repeated concepts for the state’s burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

## STATEMENT

On November 8, 2010, a Darlington County grand jury indicted Petitioner for grand larceny (2010-GS016-1974) and burglary in the first degree (2010-GS-16-1975). App. 560-561; App. 563-564. The state, represented by Patti M. Parker and John Holt, called the case to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. App. 1. Matthew Swilley and Will Grove represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 386, l. 17 – App. 387, l. 5.

During the sentencing presentation, the state admitted Petitioner had no prior record. App. 391, l. 9. The solicitor remarked that he had no “adult record.” App. 391, l. 9. The solicitor informed the judge that Petitioner had “several pending files” in her office, however. App. 391, ll. 7-12. The solicitor then informed the judge that Petitioner had been arrested for distribution of crack cocaine, attempted armed robbery, strong armed robbery, two counts of petit larceny, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, burglary first degree, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 392, ll. 4-14. The local sheriff at the time added to the solicitor’s remarks by describing Petitioner and “his associates” as “literally terroriz[ing] the people of Darlington County, in the hill area, and around Hartsville.” App. 393, ll. 2-6. Although recognizing that Petitioner had no prior record, the sheriff, as the solicitor had done, emphasized Petitioner’s “numerous pending charges, and, of course, his juvenile record.” App. 393, ll. 7-10. Despite the sheriff’s knowledge that Petitioner’s juvenile record was “not admissible,” he still made the judge aware of “things that he ha[d] done before he became an adult.” App. 393, ll. 7-10.

Judge Baxley relied heavily upon the local sheriff’s commentary when he explained that based on the sheriff’s remarks, Petitioner was “a one person crime wave” in the community.

App. 400, ll. 17-19. The judge emphasized the “multiple charges” pending against Petitioner.

App. 400, l. 19. Despite Petitioner denying guilt as to those charges and his constitutional right to the presumption of innocence, the judge stated as follows:

[A]lthough you have not been convicted of any of those, it is clear that you have been involved in a substantial amount of criminal activity in this community, including this burglary for which there was ample and clear evidence that you were involved in this burglary.

App. 400, l. 24 – App. 401, l. 4. Based upon Petitioner’s “substantial criminal activity on his record,” Judge Baxley sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years imprisonment for burglary and five years imprisonment for grand larceny. App. 401, ll. 8-12; App. 562; App. 565.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Tristan M. Shaffer and undersigned counsel. App. 405-416. The sole issue on appeal concerned whether Judge Baxley erred in failing to grant a mistrial when a member of the jury venire announced that Petitioner was a suspect in a burglary of her parent’s home. App. 405-416. On August 1, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentences. State v. Jackson, 2012-UP-476 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 1, 2012); App. 441-442. Remittitur issued on August 17, 2012. App. 443.

On February 22, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 444-453. The state’s return was dated May 29, 2014. App. 454-458. Through counsel, Lance Boozer, Petitioner amended his PCR application. App. 459-460. On July 27, 2015, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. App. 461. Boozer represented Petitioner. App. 461. Joshua L. Thomas represented the state. App. 461. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Russo took the matter under advisement. App. 521, ll. 21-23. By an order filed October 15, 2015, Judge Russo denied Petitioner relief. App. 524-535.

On December 23, 2015, Boozer wrote to this Court asking to file a belated notice of appeal, explaining the date for filing had been calendared incorrectly. App. 536-540. The state

consented to the filing. App. 536-540. This Court denied the request on January 8, 2016. App. 541. Remittitur issued on January 26, 2016. App. 542.

On February 11, 2016, Petitioner filed a second PCR application requesting a belated PCR appeal. App. 543-549. In its return, the state agreed that Petitioner's request for a belated appeal of his PCR application was meritorious. App. 550-555. The state confirmed that Petitioner's prior PCR counsel inadvertently missed the deadline to file the notice of appeal. App. 550-555. Thus, the state concluded Petitioner "did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to appellate review of his PCR hearing." App. 550-555. The state consented to a belated review of the denial of his prior PCR application. App. 550-555. By an order filed March 16, 2017, the Honorable Roger E. Henderson granted Petitioner a belated appeal of his PCR application. App. 556-559.

On July 6, 2017, Petitioner received written notice of the entry of the order granting him relief. With the assistance of the Chief Appellate Defender, Petitioner served his notice of appeal on July 7, 2017. Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to this Court's instructions in King v. State, 308 S.C. 348, 417 S.E.2d 868 (1992), Petitioner is also filing a petition for writ of certiorari addressing the PCR judge's grant of the belated PCR appeal.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to object to the trial judge repeatedly instructing the jury to “act for the community” and “reach a fair and just verdict” where the instruction deprived Petitioner of his right to a fair trial by improperly shifting the state’s burden of proof and creating a reasonable likelihood the jurors substituted the trial court’s repeated concepts for the state’s burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### *Trial*

Judge Baxley instructed the jurors they had “one objective, and that is to keep that in mind which is to seek and find the truth.” App. 332, ll. 20-25. When describing how to weigh evidence, Judge Baxley told the jurors “that evidence that weighs with you is evidence that convinces you of its truth.” App. 333, ll. 24-25. Shortly thereafter, he told the jurors to “reach a verdict that is just and fair” in the case. App. 334, ll. 16-18. When telling the jurors about reasonable doubt, Judge Baxley explained that “a reasonable doubt is a doubt that makes an honest, sincere, conscious juror in search of the truth, hesitate to act.” App. 335, ll. 16-19.

Near the end of his charge, Judge Baxley explained throughout the trial he had been “referred to as Your Honor,” which was “a title ... assigned to the position that [he was] privileged to hold.” App. 342, ll. 18-22. According to Judge Baxley, the honorific was “because this court is entrusted with the honor of this county, this community, this state, and indeed this nation to see to it that every trial here is fair, and every verdict here is just.” App. 342, l. 22 – App. 343, l. 1. He explained the jury would “take the preservation of the honor of this community, county, state, and nation with [them] into the jury room” when deciding the case.

App. 343, ll. 1-4. Judge Baxley expressed his confidence that the jury would “reach a verdict that is just and that is fair in this case.” App. 343, ll. 15-17. He further explained that “everyone is entitled, both sides of this case, to justice, and nothing more and nothing less.” App. 343, ll. 17-19. He was “of the confirmed opinion that whatever result [the jury] reach[ed would] in fact represent truth and justice for these parties.” App. 343, ll. 20-22.

Trial counsel posed no objections to these instructions.

### *PCR hearing*

During the PCR hearing, lead counsel at trial, Matthew Swilley, admitted he did not object to the trial judge instructing the jury to reach a verdict that was just and fair. App. 504, ll. 9-14. He did not recall the instruction for the jury to act for the community and to see to it that every trial was fair and every verdict was just, but he admitted he did not object to the instruction. App. 504, ll. 15-22; App. 504, l. 25 – App. 505, l. 12. He did not have a “big ... issue with that charge.” App. 504, ll. 22-23. Swilley admitted he did not object to the judge instructing the jury that both sides were entitled to justice in the case. App. 505, ll. 13-25. He also admitted he did not object to the judge instructing the jury to reach a verdict to represented truth and justice for the parties. App. 505, ll. 13-25. Swilley was unaware of any grounds to support an objection to these erroneous instructions. App. 510, ll. 10-23.

Swilley’s co-counsel, Will Grove, also admitted that he did not object to the judge’s instructions regarding acting for the community or returning a fair and just verdict for all of the parties. App. 516, ll. 3-8. He said he was not aware of any law to support an objection. App. 516, ll. 7-8.

During argument on the PCR application, PCR counsel explained he “pointed out one, two, three, four, five different sections were [the judge instructed the jury on] ‘acting for the

community’ and ‘reaching a verdict that is just and fair to all parties.’” App. 518, ll. 6-9. Relying upon State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012), PCR counsel explained this Court had “instructed all trial judges to ... remove all of that language from their jury charges for fear that it’s going to shift the burden of proof improperly from the state, who has all the burden of proof, to either try and find some sort of verdict that’s going to work for everybody.” App. 518, ll. 10-16. PCR counsel noted that Judge Baxley gave the erroneous instructions “over and over again.” App. 518, ll. 17-18. He argued against any reliance on “overwhelming evidence of guilt,” explaining the state had failed to present any conclusive evidence of Petitioner’s guilt at his trial. App. 518, ll. 18-25.

The state acknowledged that the instruction provided by Judge Baxley was “eerily similar” to the one given in Daniels, supra.<sup>2</sup> However, the state relied upon this Court’s conclusion in Daniels, supra, that the instruction was harmless in light of the other instructions given. App. 520, l. 17 – App. 521, l. 1. Additionally, the state argued “overwhelming evidence” to negate prejudice from the erroneous instruction. App. 521, ll. 2-7. This evidence included “his fingerprint, ... his DNA, the stolen goods ... recovered feet from where he lived.” App. 521, ll. 2-7. Finally, the state argued that because Petitioner’s trial was in 2010, and the Daniels decision was issued in 2012, trial counsel could not “be expected to be clairvoyant” concerning the propriety of the jury instruction given. App. 521, ll. 8-14.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Russo took the matter under advisement, explaining he would render a decision after he had an opportunity to read through the materials provided. App. 521, ll. 16-23.

---

<sup>2</sup> The judge who presided over Petitioner’s PCR hearing was the judge who issued the erroneous instruction in State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012). App. 517, ll. 24-25; App. 520, ll. 24-25.

*PCR order denying relief*

The PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden to prove trial counsel ineffective in failing to object to Judge Baxley’s jury instructions on ... the duty of the jury.” App. 532. Regarding Judge Baxley’s instructions that the jury was ““acting for the community”” and for the jury ““to reach a verdict that is just and that is fair,”” the PCR judge determined Petitioner’s reliance on State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012), was misplaced. App. 533. According to the PCR judge, the law in effect at the time of the trial allowed the use of the challenged language because Daniels was not decided until 2012, but Petitioner’s trial concluded on December 1, 2010. App. 533. The judge concluded “[t]rial counsel was not deficient for failing to make an objection to what was, at the time, a proper jury charge.” App. 533. Thus, the judge determined “trial counsel was not deficient for not raising an objection to this portion of the charge.” App. 533.

Although the PCR judge found no deficient performance, the judge analyzed prejudice as well. The PCR judge concluded Petitioner “failed to demonstrate prejudice from the lack of an objection” to the erroneous jury instructions. App. 533. Relying upon Daniels, *supra*, the court explained “this isolated objectionable language can be harmless if the instructions as a whole are otherwise free from error.” App. 533. According to the PCR judge, the trial judge “gave a thorough and proper charge on reasonable doubt, circumstantial evidence, the presumption of innocence and the state’s burden of proof.” App. 534. Based upon these portions of the jury charge, the PCR judge concluded “the jury instructions as a whole properly conveyed the law to the jury and there is no reasonable probability the jury acted in contravention of the law.” App. 534.

Next, the PCR judge determined the prosecution “presented substantial circumstantial evidence of [Petitioner]s guilt,” including Petitioner’s fingerprints and DNA being found at the scene of the burglary and stolen items found in an abandoned building near Petitioner’s residence. App. 534. Based upon that evidence, the PCR judge concluded “there [was] no reasonably likely possibility any error in the jury instructions contributed to the jury’s verdict.” App. 534. Thus, the judge concluded Petitioner failed to show he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to object to the erroneous jury instructions.

### **Discussion**

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

In State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 254, 737 S.E.2d 473, 474 (2012), the trial judge charged the jury: “You and I are acting for the community,” and that “This Court is of the

confirmed opinion that whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case.” Writing for the Court, then-Justice Pleicones determined trial counsel had failed to preserve an objection to this charge at trial. Id. at 256, 737 S.E.2d at 475. Nevertheless, the Court instructed the trial bench “to remove any suggestion from his general sessions charges that a criminal jury’s duty is to return a verdict that is ‘just’ or ‘fair’ to all parties.” Id. According to the Court, “[s]uch a charge could effectively alter the jury’s perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the presumption of innocence and the state’s burden to prove the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. Additionally, the Court noted that “to a lay person, the ‘all parties involved’ in a criminal case may well extend beyond the defendant and the state, and include the victim.” Id. “These inaccurate and misleading charges risk depriving a criminal defendant of his right to a fair trial.” Id.

In a concurring opinion, then-Chief Justice Toal found the objection preserved. Id. Further, the concurrence agreed “that the jury should not have been instructed that their verdict would represent truth and justice for the parties.” Id. at 258, 737 S.E.2d at 477. Although the “trial court included several improper statements as part of his jury instruction,” the concurrence was persuaded that the errors were harmless because the trial court “prefaced those remarks with full and adequate instructions on reasonable doubt.” Id. at 260, 737 S.E.2d at 477. Although the concurrence deemed the errors harmless, the justices made their concerns known:

It is troubling that the trial court concluded his jury instruction with statements that could have distracted the jury from their core functions: to examine evidence and make factual determinations, weigh credibility, and perhaps most importantly, decide whether the state has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt. The injection of extraneous language only serves to distract the jury from performing their critical role.

Id. at 260, 737 S.E.2d at 477.

The Court's very serious warning to trial judges regarding language used in jury instructions continued:

[T]he trial court's inappropriate statements in this case came close to jeopardizing the legitimacy of the trial. Judges and juries are critical actors in our judicial system. Jurors are sworn to declare the facts of the case as they are proved from the evidence placed before them. The very term "jury" connotes a deliberative body of persons. A judge sits as a public officer, who presides over, conducts, and administers the law by virtue of the office, and does so cloaked in judicial authority. Judges and juries are not, as this trial judge put it, "in it together." While their functions may act as a complement to one another, it is erroneous to imply that they somehow work hand in hand, and any blurring of their roles serves as an unnecessary and improper distraction.

Judicial instructions to the jury in a criminal case that "whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties," that "we must see to it that the trial is fair and the verdict is just" and that you and I are "in it together," may seem at first blush to be simply harmless phrases intended to put the jury at ease and portray the judge as a "regular guy." However, the constitutional framework governing criminal trials is a highly technical body of law developed by the United States Supreme Court and by state courts operating under the Supreme Court's guidance. It is inappropriate to jeopardize the constitutionality of a trial by instructing the jury in this way.

It is critical that jurors understand the proper application of the reasonable doubt standard. That standard does not charge the jury with ensuring justice for all parties. Justice Pleicones correctly notes that this language could result in jurors substituting concepts of justice or fairness for the state's constitutional duty to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. at 263-264, 737 S.E.2d 479-480 (internal citations omitted).

For years, the South Carolina Supreme Court has warned trial judges against using ambiguous and burden-shifting language in jury instructions. In State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000), upon which the Daniels Court relied, made clear that "[j]ury instructions on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to 'seek the truth' are disfavored because they '[run] the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to a defendant.'" Id. (quoting State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867-868 (1998))(alterations in original).

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