STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001487

Dontavious Jackson,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
S.C. Bar No. 101260
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

you is evidence that convinces you of its truth regardless again from which witness or what side of the case that evidence may come.” (Appx. 333-34).

The trial court instructed the jury that he was the judge of the law and the jury was bound to accept the law as the court provided it, and to disregard what they may have previously heard on the law. (Appx. 334, ll. 3-18). The trial court summarily charged the jury to just “accept the law as I give it to you here in this proceeding, because I am giving it to you correctly. Apply it to the facts as you find them, and if you do that, then you will reach a verdict that is just and fair in this case.” (Appx. 334, ll. 14-18).

The trial court returned again to the subject of the burden of proof; the court emphasized the state has the burden of proof, the defense has no burden, and that the burden never shifts. (Appx. 334-35). The court again instructed the jury the State’s burden was to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt, and thereafter explained what constituted a reasonable doubt. (Appx. 334-36). The trial court unequivocally instructed “the jury must make the determination here of whether or not reasonable doubt exists as to the guilt of the accused.” (Appx. 336, ll. 1-3). The trial court thereafter instructed the jury on the law as was relevant to each particular charge against Petitioner, emphasizing repeatedly that the State had to prove each element explained beyond a reasonable doubt. (Appx. 336-42).

In closing, the trial court returned broadly to the honor and justice of the proceedings, and in particular instructed the jury:

Whatever verdict --- As the presiding officer here in the courtroom, whatever verdict you reach, it is important to me and to this process that that verdict be the result of your going into the jury room, *confining your consideration to the evidence put forth in this courtroom*, weighing it fairly, and weighing it impartially, and applying it to the law that I have given you here in this charge. And if you do that, and I have every confidence that that is what you will do, then you will reach a verdict that is just and that is fair in this case. I will tell you that

everyone is entitled, both sides of this case, to justice, and nothing more and nothing less. We owe no support to any party. We owe no sympathy to any party. And I am of the confirmed opinion that whatever result you reach will in fact represent truth and justice for these parties.

(Appx. 343, ll. 8-22) (emphasis added). The attorneys thereafter made their closing arguments.

(Appx. 344-80). Petitioner was convicted as indicted after just over an hour of deliberation and sentenced to 25 years. (Appx. 385-403; p. 562; p. 565).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Id.; Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland at 687. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. “[E]very effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight” and to evaluate counsel’s decisions at the time they were made. Id. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s tactics. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. Id. at 697. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF BECAUSE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AS A WHOLE PROPERLY CONVEYED THE LAW TO THE JURY, THE BASIS FOR OBJECTION WAS NOT EVIDENT UNTIL NEARLY TWO YEARS AFTER TRIAL, AND ANY CONCEIVABLE ERROR WAS HARMLESS IN LIGHT OF THE EXTRAORDINARILY STRONG EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT PETITIONER'S CONVICTION

Counsels provided Petitioner effective representation and far more than “any evidence” exists to support the PCR Court’s denial of relief. Petitioner’s smokescreen of outrage based on issues not raised to this court and an issue that was rejected on direct appeal is insufficient to undermine the PCR Court’s Order of Dismissal.

- a. The jury instructions as a whole exhaustively emphasized to the jury that they were to consider only the competent evidence before them and that their duty was to determine if the State met its burden of proving Petitioner’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.**

“Jury instructions on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to ‘seek the truth’ are disfavored because they run the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to a defendant.” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (quotation omitted). “However, jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” Id., 343 S.C. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 251 (citing State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994)). “The standard for review of an ambiguous jury instruction is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution.” Id. (citations omitted).

The Court already reviewed the exact charge at issue, delivered by the same trial judge, in State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012). The Court then found the mistake did not prejudice the defendant because the charge as a whole properly conveyed the law. Id., 401

S.C. at 260, 737 S.E.2d at 477. The extensive review of the jury instructions set forth in the Statement of the Facts, *supra*, demonstrates the trial court unequivocally and repeatedly admonished the jury that their duty was to determine if the State met its burden of proving Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The instructions repeatedly emphasize that the jury is bound to limit its review to the evidence presented at trial. As was the case in Aleksey, the sole invocation that the jury should "seek the truth" appears in the portion of the charge relating to the jury's judgment of credibility.² There can be no doubt the jury understood its restriction to consider only the evidence before it, and that the burden of proving the case beyond a reasonable doubt was only and always on the State. As in Aleksey and Daniels, the charge as a whole properly conveyed the law, and no conceivable prejudice exists from the alleged failure to object by Counsels.

Petitioner attempts to distinguish this case by spinning an illusion of disregard from both the trial courts generally and from the trial judge in this case specifically, and demands the Court vacate the conviction to send a stronger signal to the trial bench. The trial at issue occurred a mere six months after the underlying trial in Daniels, let alone the nearly two years before the Daniels opinion was issued. All of the other cases cited by Petitioner are similarly recent, if not from the last year.³ A trial judge can be no more clairvoyant than counsel and cannot be taken to

² Respondent notes the "seek the truth" portions were not challenged below.

³ See State v. Pradubsri, 420 S.C. 629, 803 S.E.2d 724 (Ct. App. 2017) (The Honorable Thomas A. Russo's description of reasonable doubt as "doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth hesitate to act" was harmless); State v. Deleston, 2016-UP-055 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 10, 2016) (The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington's description of a trial as "a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done" was harmless); State v. House, 2014-UP-048 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 5, 2014) (The Honorable Clifton Newman's instruction in the vein of Pradubsri found harmless); State v. Partain, 2012-UP-311 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 16, 2012) (The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh's instruction to jury "to search for the truth" was harmless); State v. Beaty, ___ S.C. ___, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018) (The Honorable W. Jeffrey Young's preliminary remarks that the jury's role was to "search for the truth," determine "true facts," and render a "just verdict" were harmless). Whether these cases reflect a recurring error by the trial bench of South Carolina, or merely the defense bar's relentless campaign against any reference to "truth" in a criminal trial is a subject to consider in other appeals.

task for failing to follow a Supreme Court directive that had not yet been issued at the time of trial.

Petitioner also fabricates a panoply of imagined errors either not at issue or which very simply *do not exist* in the record. First, Petitioner accuses the trial judge of telling the jury “that its duty was to determine whether Petitioner was guilty or *innocent*.” (Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 14) (emphasis original). The only invocations of innocence in the entirety of the charge on the law are in the context of the trial court’s instructions that the defendant is presumed innocent and that the burden never shifts such that he must prove himself or herself innocent—Petitioner’s claim is explicitly contrary to the record. “Backwards” does not mean “forwards,” “left” does not mean “right,” and “presumed innocent” does not mean “he must prove his innocence.” Second, Petitioner resurrects and bootstraps the issue that failed on direct appeal, which was rightly deemed cured by an extensive curative instruction from the trial court. Third, Petitioner complains of elements of the State’s closing argument not raised to the PCR Court or on direct appeal. Neither of these last two issues have anything to do with whether the jury instructions, as a whole, were free from error and properly conveyed the law to the jury. Accordingly, the petition should be denied.

b. The admonition from the Supreme Court regarding the “truth and justice” portion of the instruction was not issued until nearly two years after Petitioner’s conviction, and the other criticisms issued by the Supreme Court cited by Petitioner are even more recent.

Reasonable representation does not require trial counsel to foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law. Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016). As Petitioner acknowledges, Teamer explicitly addresses whether Counsel can be found ineffective for failing to divine the coming of State v. Daniels—the Court *unanimously reversed* a grant of relief on the very ground insisted upon by Petitioner, reaffirming that “[w]e have never

required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law[.]” Teamer, 416 S.C. at 183, 786 S.E. at 1115 (quoting Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994)).

The Court’s holding in Teamer is precisely applicable here. Petitioner attempts to tilt straight on at Teamer by arguing that Aleksey and its own admonition was firmly established precedent at the time of trial, but that’s no more or less true here than it was in Teamer. Furthermore, Aleksey was not concerned with instructions on a “just and fair” verdict, but rather was concerned with the instruction to “seek the truth.” As noted in footnote 2, *supra*, that portion of the instruction was not challenged in the hearing below, and in any event did not impermissibly shift the burden against Petitioner for the same reasons as set forth in Aleksey—it was included as part of an instruction on the jury’s power to determine the credibility of witnesses.

The particular charge at issue was not explicitly rebuffed until the Supreme Court’s holding in Daniels in October 2012, and as such Counsels committed no error in not objecting. Accordingly, the petition should be denied.

c. Petitioner was convicted on the basis of extremely compelling forensic evidence and the recovery of stolen goods from a location proximate to his residence, not the trial court’s jury charge.

“Ordinarily, the existence of ‘overwhelming evidence’ does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice.” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 189, 810 S.E.2d 836, 844 (2018). Only in rare cases may overwhelming evidence of guilt serve as a categorical bar to preclude a finding of prejudice; for the evidence to be overwhelming, it must include something utterly conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or some combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the Strickland standard cannot possibly be met. Id., 422 S.C. at 190-91, 810 S.E.2d at 844-45. Whether the strength of the evidence is characterized as

an “overwhelming” categorical bar or merely “very strong” such that there is no prejudice in the specific context, the underlying and fundamental question is “whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” *Id.*, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695).

There is no chance any factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. As noted in the Statement of the Facts, *supra*, Petitioner was tied to the burglary by way of latent fingerprints lifted from the scene, D.N.A. evidence extracted from a cigarette butt recovered from the crime scene, and the recovery of the goods stolen in the burglary from an abandoned building mere feet away from his own residence. Absent a written and recorded confession, high-definition video recording the burglary, and/or the incidental capture of the wrongdoer in the course of the act, a more comprehensive case to support conviction for burglary cannot be presented. No part of this evidence needs to be “set aside” as part of analysis of the propriety of the jury charge. Petitioner’s guilt firmly established, he could not have been prejudiced by the error alleged in the Court’s jury instruction, and the petition should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.